THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr.

---

Case No. 2011-CP-32-04981  
Appellate Case No. 2014-000671

---

Mike Russell,..... Respondent,

v.

Randolph Gill and Pennsylvania Life  
Insurance Company,..... Defendants,

Of Whom Pennsylvania Life  
Insurance Company is..... Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

D. Larry Kristinik  
Michael J. Anzelmo  
Elizabeth Herlong Brogdon  
Kristen E. Horne  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
803.799.2000

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred by ruling that Section 38-71-30 renders unenforceable an intoxication exclusion in an accident disability insurance policy when there is insufficient evidence of delivery.
  
- II. Based on the fully developed record presented to the trial court, this Court should grant judgment in favor of Penn Life, without remanding to the trial court, because Russell's intoxication was a contributing cause of the accident.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal addresses whether the intoxication exclusion contained in an accident disability insurance policy barred Respondent Mike Russell (“Russell”) from recovering benefits under that policy when Russell injured himself in a wreck while operating his motorcycle with a blood alcohol level of 0.232, nearly three times the legal limit in South Carolina. The trial court incorrectly ruled that Appellant Pennsylvania Life Insurance Company (“Penn Life”) could not enforce the intoxication exclusion. This Court should reverse.

Russell instituted this action by filing a complaint against Penn Life and insurance agent Randolph Gill on February 10, 2010. {Complaint; R. 29}. Russell alleged the following causes of action against both Defendants: (1) bad faith refusal to pay benefits; (2) breach of contract to procure insurance; and (3) breach of the insurance contract. {Complaint; R. 29-35}. Penn Life answered, pointing out that all benefits due had been paid and asserting that the intoxication exclusion contained in Russell’s policy barred Russell from receiving additional benefits. {Am. Answer & Counterclaim; R. 77-87}.

On April 1, 2010, Penn Life filed a notice of removal of the action to federal court. {Notice of Removal; R. 36}. Both Penn Life and Gill filed answers, denying the allegations in the complaint and asserting affirmative defenses. {Penn Life Answer, R. 63; Gill Answer, R. 71}. Penn Life subsequently filed an amended answer and a counterclaim for declaratory judgment, alleging that the intoxication exclusion contained in Russell’s policy barred Russell from continuing to receive monthly benefit payments under the policy. {Am. Answer & Counterclaim; R. 77-87}. The United

States District Court for the District of South Carolina issued an order remanding the case on October 1, 2010.<sup>1</sup> {Remand Order; R. 15}.

The parties presented their case by bench trial before Judge Griffith in the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas on December 13–14 and 20–21, 2012. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 1, p. 1, Vol. 2 p. 2, Vol. 3 p. 1; R. 88, 179, 399}. As to Russell’s claims against Penn Life, the trial court ruled in favor of Penn Life on all claims. {Trial Court Order at 9-10; R. 9-10}. Specifically, the trial court dismissed Russell’s claim for breach of the insurance contract, finding that Russell received all insurance payments. {Id. at 9; R. 9}. The trial court also denied Russell’s claim for bad faith refusal to pay insurance benefits because Penn Life made all payments due under the policy. {Id. at 9-10; R. 9-10}. Finally, the trial court dismissed Russell’s claim for failure to procure insurance, finding that Russell did not offer any evidence that he did not receive the coverage he requested or that he suffered any damages from an alleged failure to procure insurance. {Id. at 10; R. 10}. Russell did not file a motion to reconsider or appeal any of these rulings. In fact, Russell did not appeal any ruling or finding of the trial court.<sup>2</sup>

As to Penn Life’s declaratory judgment claim seeking to enforce the intoxication exclusion, the trial court ruled in favor of Russell. The trial court concluded that Penn

---

<sup>1</sup> The case was remanded because Defendant Randolph Gill was a South Carolina resident. Russell voluntarily dismissed Gill shortly before trial.

<sup>2</sup> Thus, all the trial court’s adverse findings against Russell are law of the case for this appeal. See, e.g., Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (holding that “an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case”); In re Morrison, 321 S.C. 370, 372 n. 2, 468 S.E.2d 651, 652 n. 2 (1996) (recognizing the settled rule that an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal). As a result, Penn Life will cite to the factual findings of the order (as related to Russell, the policy, the wreck, and the use of alcohol on the night of the wreck) throughout this brief because those facts are law of the case for this appeal.

Life's proof of delivery of the policy was insufficient, and, under Section 38-71-30, Penn Life was therefore not entitled to enforce the intoxication exclusion. {Order at 10; R. 10}. The trial court declined to reach the issue of whether Russell was intoxicated and whether intoxication contributed to the accident because of its ruling that the exclusion did not apply. Penn Life filed a motion to alter or amend the trial court's ruling. {Motion to Alter or Amend; R. 2409}. Following a hearing, {Motion Trans.; R. 2414}, the trial court denied Penn Life's motion. {Order denying Motion to Alter or Amend; R. 13}. Penn Life timely filed a notice of appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Russell purchased an accident disability insurance policy from Penn Life in 1999. {1999 Application, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 9; R. 677}. He met with an agent on November 19, 1999, and completed a Penn Life application for an accident disability policy that provided a monthly disability benefit of \$2,000. {Application, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 9; R. 677}. Penn Life issued the policy to Russell. {Order ¶ 16 p. 6; R. 6}. Russell made monthly premium payments on the policy. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 21; R. 419}.

Jack Mackin, a former Penn Life employee who was knowledgeable about the Penn Life's policy administrative systems, testified that once the policy was issued, systems were in place which would ensure delivery of the policy to Russell. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 1 p. 51, 53, 62-63, 71; R. 138, 140, 149-50, 158}. Russell, on the other hand, testified that he did not recall ever receiving the policy back in 1999. Nevertheless, Russell paid the premiums for the 9 year period preceding the wreck

which led to these legal proceedings, knowing that an insurance policy existed. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 1 p. 76, Vol. 3 p. 21; R. 163, 419}.

In June 2002, Russell sought to increase the monthly disability benefit. {2002 Application, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 11; R. 688}. Russell met with Defendant Randolph Gill, an insurance agent, and completed an application seeking an additional monthly benefit of \$500 for his accident disability policy. {2002 Application, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 11; R. 688}. Penn Life accepted Russell's application and increased his total monthly benefit to \$2,500. {Policy Declaration Page; R. 604-05; 2002 Application, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 11; R. 688}. Neither party made any other changes to the terms or exclusions to the initial policy purchased in 1999. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 60; R. 458}. At that time, Gill presented Russell with a receipt in conjunction with the increase in the monthly benefit. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 73, Vol. 3 p. 38, 61; Insurance Receipt, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 12; R. 250, 436, 459; 699}. Russell admitted at trial that he received the receipt from Gill at that time. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 56-57; R. 454-55}. Russell also acknowledged receiving the receipt in an affidavit. {Affidavit of Oct. 31, 2012, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 4; R. 629}. Russell admitted in that affidavit that Gill provided the receipt, and Russell attached that receipt as an exhibit to his affidavit. {Exhibit 2 to Affidavit of Oct. 31, 2012; R. 660; Penn Life Tr. Ex. 4; R. 629}. Moreover, the trial court found that "[Russell] acknowledged that he received the receipt from Mr. Gill." {Order ¶ 3 p. 2; R. 2}.

The receipt issued to Russell clearly and unambiguously gave notice of the exclusions contained in the policy. The top of the receipt form was titled: "Definitions, Exceptions and Limitations." {Insurance Receipt, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 12; R. 699}. The

receipt also contained a paragraph with the heading, in all capital typeface—“EXCEPTIONS AND LIMITATIONS.” {Insurance Receipt, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 12; R. 699}. That paragraph listed the exclusions contained in the policy and unequivocally advised Russell that “Your coverage does not cover loss . . . that results from any of the following: . . . being intoxicated.” {Insurance Receipt, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 12; R. 699}. Russell continued to pay his monthly premiums for the policy after receiving the receipt. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 37; R. 435}.

On June 18, 2008, Russell crashed his motorcycle into the back of a parked car and sustained injuries to his left leg and hip. {Order ¶ 21 p. 7; R. 7}. Russell had left work early that day and headed home. {Order ¶ 17 p. 6; R. 6}. Russell then left his house to ride on his motorcycle. {Order ¶ 17 p. 6; R. 6}. After riding for a while, Russell decided to go to the Carolina Wings & Ribhouse restaurant located in West Columbia, South Carolina, where he consumed several alcoholic beverages. {Order ¶ 17 p. 6; R. 6}.

At trial, Russell admitted that he had several alcoholic drinks while at the restaurant. Russell recalled consuming between two and three Crown Royal drinks. Russell’s restaurant receipt indicated Russell purchased seven alcoholic beverages, including a beer, three Crown Royal drinks, a Southern Comfort, and two Yager<sup>3</sup> drinks. {Tr. Trans. p. Vol. 3 p. 76-77; R. 474-75}. The trial court acknowledged in its order that the evidence showed that “[Russell’s] blood alcohol level was more than double the statutory level to be charged with Driving Under the Influence.” {Order ¶

---

<sup>3</sup> “Yager” is short for Jagermeister, a potent German liquor. See Jagermeister, Urban Dictionary, <http://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=Jagermeister> (last visited Sept. 23, 2014).

23 p. 7; R. 7}. Specifically, evidence of test results presented at trial established that Russell's blood alcohol level was as high as 0.232. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 12, Vol. 3 p. 196; R. 189, 594}.

After consuming the beverages, Russell departed the restaurant on his motorcycle to head home. {Order ¶ 18 p. 6; R. 6}. Russell chose to return home via Exit 15 on Interstate 26 eastbound towards Charleston because that was the closest exit to his home. {Order ¶ 18 p. 6; R. 6}. Russell was very familiar with Exit 15 because he had traveled it almost every day for many years to return home. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 81; R. 479}. Russell further testified that there was nothing wrong with his motorcycle and that he was a very experienced motorcycle rider. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 76-77; R. 474-75}.

Prior to Russell exiting on Exit 15, another motorist, Connie Collins, had stopped her vehicle in the grass along the left side of the exit ramp. The vehicle was 99% out of the roadway on Exit 15, and her car lights were still on. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 103; R. 501; Order ¶ 20 p. 6; R. 6}. It was necessary for Ms. Collins to stop her vehicle so that she could retrieve a cell phone that had fallen near her brake and accelerator pedals. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 170; R. 568}. As Russell drove down the ramp for Exit 15, he collided with Ms. Collins' vehicle. {Order ¶ 21 p. 7; R. 7}. Russell was thrown from his motorcycle and sustained injuries to his left leg and hip. {Order ¶ 21 p. 7; R. 7}. Russell was hospitalized for treatment. {Order ¶ 21 p. 7; R. 7}.

The South Carolina Highway Patrol investigated the wreck. The investigating officer observed at the scene that Ms. Collins' vehicle was parked almost entirely off

the exit ramp. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 102-03; R. 500-01}. The officer testified that only a few inches of the right rear of Ms. Collins' vehicle were over the white line that delineates the left shoulder of the exit ramp and the main part of the roadway. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 112-13; R. 510-11}. The officer concluded that Ms. Collins' vehicle was 99% out of the roadway. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 103; R. 501}.

Notably, the officer testified that the position of Ms. Collins' vehicle would not have impeded any traffic traveling down the middle of the exit ramp and that there was ample room for a vehicle to pass safely, especially a motorcycle, which needs even less width of roadway. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 104, 115; R. 502, 513}. The officer further stated that the collision occurred on the straight part of the exit ramp before it began to curve. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 104; R. 502}. According to the investigating officer, Russell was at fault for the wreck because there was no reason that he could not have avoided Ms. Collins' vehicle as he proceeded down the exit ramp. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 114, 118, 130; R. 512, 516, 528}.

The investigation of this wreck established that (1) Ms. Collins' vehicle lights were on at the time of the accident, (2) Ms. Collins' brake lights would have been on as well because she had not taken her foot off the brake when she stopped her vehicle, (3) there was no evidence that Russell had tried braking prior to the colliding with Ms. Collins' vehicle, (4) the investigating officer found no skid marks belonging to the motorcycle at the scene, (5) a short skid mark next to the back right tire of Ms. Collins' vehicle showed that it was fully stopped at the moment of impact, and (6) the force of impact evidenced by the damage to Ms. Collins' vehicle, and the fact that it was pushed forward by the impact, established that Russell made no significant effort to decelerate

prior to the collision. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 102-04, 110-15, 170, 171, 178, 195; R. 500-02, 508-13, 568, 569, 576, 593}.

The investigating officer also observed Russell at the hospital. The officer noted that Russell had a strong odor of alcohol on him at the emergency room. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 105; R. 503}. As a result of the investigation, the officer concluded that Russell had been driving under the influence at the time of the wreck. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 105-06; R. 503-04}. Russell was issued a traffic ticket charging him with the violation. {Penn Life Tr. Ex. 7; R. 675}. The investigating officer concluded that Russell's driving under the influence was the primary contributing factor of the wreck. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 118; R. 516}.

Two blood samples drawn from Russell following the motorcycle wreck established an elevated blood alcohol level. The hospital collected the first blood sample from Russell around 10:00 p.m. the night of the wreck as part of standard hospital procedure for the purpose of providing medical treatment. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 11; R. 188}. The results of the laboratory testing of this sample showed that the Plaintiff's blood alcohol level was 0.232. {Penn Life Tr. Ex. Exh. 21 p. 114; R. 1022}. The Highway Patrol directed the collection of the second blood sample, which was collected from Russell at 12:05 a.m. on the night of the wreck (about two hours after the first sample was taken). {Id.; R. 1022}. The South Carolina Law Enforcement Division ("SLED") test results showed that Russell's blood alcohol level was 0.199. {Penn Life Tr. Ex. 23 p. 415; R. 1128}. At trial, Russell stipulated to the chain of custody for the blood sample collected by law enforcement and tested by SLED. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 142; R. 540}.

Dr. William Richardson, a board certified toxicologist, and Dr. Wendy Bell, Lieutenant and chief toxicologist of the SLED drug analysis department, testified that the records reflect that the blood samples were correctly collected, processed, stored, and tested. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 142-44; R. 540-42}. Each also testified that the methods and equipment used to test the samples are reliable and complied with all applicable scientific standards: {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 15, 19, Vol. 3 p. 144; R. 192, 196, 542}. Moreover, testimony showed that there was no evidence that Russell received any medical treatment or intervention that would have impacted his blood alcohol results or which would have caused those results to show an elevated level. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 149; R. 547}. Dr. Bell confirmed that the only way that ethyl alcohol could have entered Russell's body on the night of the accident was through Russell's consumption of alcoholic beverages at the restaurant. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 3 p. 144, 149; R. 542, 547}.

Expert testimony further established that a person of Russell's physical characteristics (such as height, weight, and age) would have had to consume a minimum of seven to ten alcoholic beverages prior to the wreck to reach the blood alcohol levels reflected in the results of the testing conducted by the hospital and SLED. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 14, Vol. 3 p. 144-45, 146; R. 191, 542-43, 544}. According to Dr. Richardson and Dr. Bell, the standard elimination or metabolization rate for a person consuming alcohol is approximately 20 milligrams/deciliter/hour. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 17, Vol. 3 p. 147-48; R. 194, 545-46}. Both testified that it is not scientifically or medically possible for Russell to have achieved a blood alcohol level of

0.232 or 0.199 by consuming only three Crown Royal drinks over a period of hours, as he claimed.<sup>4</sup> {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 45, Vol. 3 p. 147-48; R. 222, 545-46}.

Relevant to the wreck, both Dr. Richardson and Dr. Bell testified to a reasonable degree of scientific and medical certainty that an individual with Russell's physical characteristics and blood alcohol level would have experienced significant cognitive impairment that would have negatively affected his ability to operate a motor vehicle. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 23-24, Vol. 3 p. 151-52, 153-54; R. 200-01, 549-50, 551-52}. The cognitive impairment would come in several forms, some of which would include slowed reaction time, impaired judgment, and lack of ability to multitask. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 24; R. 201}.

About two months after the wreck, Russell submitted a claim form to Penn Life requesting disability benefits under the policy. {Claim Form dated August 27, 2008, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 2; R. 624}. Penn Life relied on the representations of Russell and began payment of benefits to Russell. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 99-100; R. 276-77}. In November 2009, Penn Life first learned about Russell's alcohol consumption on the day of the wreck while reviewing a medical record obtained through a follow up request to the treating hospital. {Tr. Trans. p. Vol. 2 p. 138, 159; R. 315, 336}. Russell had previously concealed the fact that alcohol was involved by providing to Penn Life an insurance form about the wreck that made no mention of the DUI charge

---

<sup>4</sup> This standard elimination or metabolization rate further explains the difference in the blood alcohol levels measured by the Lexington Medical Center and SLED. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 17, Vol. 3 p. 147-48; R. 194, 545-46}. Dr. Richardson and Dr. Bell testified that the different levels resulted from the fact that the blood samples were drawn at different times, and Russell's body eliminated or metabolized some of the alcohol in Russell's system between the times each sample was collected. {Id.; R. 194, 545-46}.

instead of providing the Highway Patrol incident report, which attributed the wreck to Russell's intoxication. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 2 p. 142, 157-58; R. 319, 334-35}.

After learning alcohol was involved, Penn Life issued a reservation of rights letter to Russell and informed him that it had commenced an investigation. {Reservation of Rights Letter, Penn Life Tr. Ex. 19; R. 983}. Russell initiated this action in response to that letter. {Complaint; R. 29}. Penn Life answered and asserted a counterclaim seeking to enforce the intoxication exclusion in Russell's policy. {Am. Answer & Counterclaim; R. 77}.

The matter proceeded to a bench trial before Judge Griffith. After ruling in favor of Penn Life on all of Russell's claims<sup>5</sup>, the trial court addressed the applicability of the intoxication exclusion. Russell claimed that the exclusion did not apply because there was insufficient evidence that Penn Life delivered the policy to him, and therefore, Penn Life could not enforce the exclusion pursuant to Section 38-71-30 of the South Carolina Code. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 1 p. 46-47; R. 133-34}. Thus, Russell was asking the trial court to enforce the policy by ordering that benefit payments continue while simultaneously arguing the exclusion did not apply because he did not receive the policy. {Id.; R. 133-34}.

Penn Life argued that the statute could not be used to render the exclusion unenforceable because (1) Section 38-71-30 does not address delivery of an insurance policy, but only addresses what should happen to the application, and (2) nothing in that

---

<sup>5</sup> As to Russell's claims against Penn Life, the trial court ruled in favor of Penn Life as to all claims. {Order p. 9-10; R. at 9-10}. Russell did not appeal those rulings.

section provided for invalidating an exclusion due to failure to deliver the insurance policy. {Tr. Trans. Vol. 1 p. 47; R. 134; Motion to Alter or Amend; R. 2409}.

The trial court found that Penn Life issued the policy to Russell and that the policy contained an intoxication exclusion.<sup>6</sup> {Order ¶ 16 p. 6; R. 6}. Moreover, the trial court found that policy and exclusion were in place at the time of the wreck. {Id.; R. 6}. The trial court found:

[T]hat the records of the Defendant reflect that a policy was issued in response to the applications submitted by the Plaintiff and that such policy would have included an intoxication exclusion. The Court further finds that the specimen policy introduced as Defendant's Exhibit 1 accurately reflects the terms of the policy as they existed in the records of the Defendant at the time of the Plaintiff's wreck.

{Id.; R. 6}. Despite this finding, the trial court ruled that pursuant to Section 38-71-30, Penn Life could not enforce the intoxication exclusion because there was insufficient evidence to show Penn Life delivered the policy to Russell. {Order ¶ 39 p. 10; R. 10}. Penn Life filed a motion to alter or amend arguing that (1) Section 38-71-30 was irrelevant to this action because that section only addresses delivery of the application and not delivery of the policy, (2) that Section 38-71-30 does not provide any basis to allow a finding that failure to deliver a policy renders an exclusion unenforceable, (3) that Russell had notice of the exclusion via delivery of the policy receipt, and (4) that such a finding violates the public policy of South Carolina.

---

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