THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 10 2014

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-32-04981
Appellate Case No. 2014-000671

Mike Russell, Respondent,

v.

Randolph Gill and Pennsylvania Life
Insurance Company, Defendants,

Of Which Pennsylvania Life Insurance
Company is Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

S. Jahue Moore
John C. Bradley, Jr.
R. Nick Riley, Jr.
MOORE TAYLOR LAW FIRM, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169
803-796-9160

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED SOUTH CAROLINA CODE SECTION 38-71-30 TO THIS CASE AND HELD THAT THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO ENFORCE THE "INTOXICATION EXCLUSION."

The Appellant argues that Respondent's claim is barred by the "intoxication exclusion" allegedly contained in the insurance policy that he was never provided with or that he never received from Appellant. Judge Griffith correctly applied South Carolina Code Section 38-71-30 to this case in order to hold that the Appellant was precluded as a matter of law from relying on or enforcing any intoxication exclusion contained in the policy of insurance it never delivered to Respondent. His Order should be affirmed by this Court.

It is undisputed in this case that the Respondent never received a copy of the policy of insurance. Respondent and his wife both testified at trial that they never received a copy of the policy. (Transcript Vol. 2, p. 176, ll. 15-18; R. ____) (Transcript Vol. 3, p. 19; ll. 8-9; p. 20, ll. 5-8). He testified that he was provided with a packet of information that he believed to be the policy (but which he learned after commencing this action was not). (Transcript Vol. 2, p. 177, ll. 6-25; R. ____) (Exhibit 21; R. ____). This packet contained no information regarding any alleged "intoxication exclusion." (Transcript Vol. 2, p. 177, ll. 15-18; R. ____). He testified that he was not aware of any exclusions that the policy might or might not contain at the time he bought it and that he

would not have purchased the policy had he known it contained such an exclusion. (Transcript, Vol. 3, p. 20, ll. 9-11; p. 20, ll. 20-25; R. ____).

Appellant presented no testimony or evidence that the policy was ever delivered to Respondent. Randolph Gill, the agent who sold Respondent the additional increased coverage, presented no evidence of delivery of the application or policy. (Transcript Vol. 1, p. 12, ll. 14-23; p. 16, ll. 21-23; p. 20, l. 18 – p. 21, l. 1; p. 25, l. 20 - p. 26, l. 1; R. ____). John Mackin, an authorized representative of Appellant Penn Life with authority to speak for them, also testified at trial. (Transcript Vol. 1, p. 39, ll. 3-6; p. 41, l. 24 – p. 25, l. 2; R. ____). Mr. Mackin acknowledged that an insurance company is required to send a copy of the policy to its insured. (Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 57, ll. 19-23; p. 61, ll. 1-5; R. ____). He further testified that while it was his company's policy to deliver the policy to the agent who sold it for delivery to the insured, there was no evidence the company policy was followed or that there was any delivery to the Respondent in this case. (Transcript Vol. 1, p. 51, ll. 9-21; p. 52, ll. 6-10; p. 53, ll. 7-11; p. 54, ll. 14-17; p. 59, ll. 2-21; p. 65, ll. 10-17; p. 50, ll. 11-16; p. 62, l. 3; R. ____). Finally, Appellant presented no letters of transmittal, or receipts indicating that the policy of insurance was ever given to Respondent. (Transcript Vol. 1, p. 50, ll. 13-16; p. 67, ll. 18-21; p. 65, ll. 10-17; p. 62, l. 3; R. ____)

The parties both agree that South Carolina Code Section 38-71-30 is applicable to the insurance policy at issue in this case. It reads in pertinent part: “(E)very insurer doing accident or health insurance business in the State shall deliver with each policy of insurance issued by it a copy of the application made by the insured so that the whole contract appears in the application and policy of insurance. If the insurer violates this

requirement, no defense is allowed to the policy on account of anything contained in or omitted from the application." Appellant's own witnesses acknowledged that an insurance company has an obligation to provide the policy of insurance to the customer or insured. (Transcript Vol. 1, p. 57, ll. 19-23; R. ____). As set forth above, the Trial Court correctly held and ruled that while Appellant issued a policy in response to the Respondent's application, Appellant offered no proof that a copy of the policy was ever delivered to the Respondent. The Trial Court correctly found and ruled that as a result of Appellant's clear (and admitted) violation of South Carolina Code Section 38-71-30, it was not entitled to enforce any intoxication exclusion contained in the policy. (Order of Judge Griffith; R. ____).

Statutory application and interpretation is a question of law for the Court. *Vaughn v. McLeod Regional Medical Center*, 372 S.C. 505, 642 S.E.2d 744 (2007); *Grier v. AMISUB of South Carolina, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 532, 725 S.E.2d 693 (2012); *Colleton County Taxpayers Ass'n v. School District of Colleton County*, 371 S.C. 224, 638 S.E.2d 685 (2006); *State v. Jacobs*, 393 S.C. 584, 713 S.E.2d 621 (2011). Under South Carolina Law, the Court's function is to enforce an ambiguous statute according to its terms. "Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). The Court has held that it is its duty to apply the statute according to its own terms. *Shelly Construction Company v. Sea Garden Homes, Inc.*, 287 S.C. 24, 336 S.E.2d. 488 (S.C. App. 1985).

Judge Griffith correctly applied the plain and clear meaning of South Carolina

Code Section 38-71-30 to the facts of this case. South Carolina law clearly and unequivocally requires that the insurer deliver a copy of both the application and policy to the insured in order that the "whole contract appears in the application and policy of insurance." Clearly, under this statute, an insurer is required to deliver both the application and the actual policy of insurance to its insured. Appellant presented no evidence at trial that it ever delivered a copy of the policy to Respondent. Therefore, under South Carolina law, it cannot rely on any intoxication exclusion allegedly contained in its policy (which it never delivered to Respondent) to defeat coverage in this case.

Even if the language contained in this statute is ambiguous, which the Respondent asserts it is not, Judge Griffith interpreted this Statute correctly. The primary purpose in construing a statute is to determine the legislative intent. The language contained in the statute is the best evidence of what the legislature intended. *See, Hodges v. Rainy*, 341 S.C.79, 533 S.E.2d 578 (2001); *McClanahan v. Richland Cnty. Council*, 350 S.C. 433, 438, 567 S.E.2d 240, 242 (2002). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." *Id.* (quoting Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* § 46.03, at 94 (5th ed.1992)). "The Court is not at liberty, under the guise of construction, to alter the plain language of [a] statute by adding words which the Legislature saw fit not to include." *Shelly Construction Company v. Sea Garden Homes, Inc.*, 287 S.C. 24, 336 S.E.2d 488 (S.C. App. 1985); *see, Enos v. Doe*, 380 S.C. 295, 669 S.E.2d 619 (2008).

In the case before the Court, the statute in question clearly evidences a legislative

intent for the insured to be provided with all relevant documents which form the contract of insurance. Failure to provide an insured with all the necessary documents precludes an insurer from enforcing a policy provision contained in the undelivered policy against its insured. It would be a ridiculous construction to interpret this statute in such a way that an insurer has to provide a copy of the application, but may withhold from its insured a copy of the actual policy. The Appellant's argument for a contrary construction of this statute lacks merit and should be rejected by this Court.

II. THE RECEIPT DOES NOT EXCUSE APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO DELIVER A COPY OF THE POLICY TO RESPONDENT.

The Appellant argues that the receipt it introduced into evidence at Exhibit 12 somehow excuses their failure to deliver a copy of the policy to Respondent. However, Respondent cannot rely on Exhibit 12 to excuse its failure to deliver a copy of the application and policy to the Respondent.

As the Appellant acknowledges in its Brief, Exhibit 12 consists of a document entitled "Definitions, Exceptions and Limitations." (Transcript Vol. 1, p. 26, ll. 2-5; R. ____). Appellant's agent, Mr. Gill identified this document as a receipt which he "assumes" that he gave to Respondent in July 2002 (three years after purchase of the original policy) when Respondent increased his monthly benefit. (Transcript Vol. 1, p. 26, ll. 6-21; R. ____). Because this document contains language it construes as providing that the policy does not cover loss from "intoxication," the Appellant argues to this Court that it is excused from its admitted failure to deliver a copy of the policy to Respondent. (Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 25, l. 22 – p. 27, l. 15; R. ____).

This argument lacks merit. The Appellant's own witnesses and representatives acknowledged that they had a duty to deliver a copy of the actual policy itself to their

insured. They acknowledged that the document marked and introduced as Exhibit 12 was not a copy of the policy. (Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 34, l. 19 - p. 35, l. 21; R. ____). The document on its face clearly states that it is not a copy of the contract of insurance. (Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 35, ll. 13-21; R. ____). Mr. Mackin, the Respondent's representative, brought to trial to testify on its behalf, described it as a brochure and not a contract of insurance. (Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 48, ll. 18-23; R. ____). Mr. Gill, who sold the monthly benefit increase to Respondent in 2002, described this document as a summary or "brief description" of the policy. (Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 35, ll. 13-15; R. ____). However, he acknowledged at trial that to determine the actual language of the contract one would have to look at the actual contract itself (which was never provided to Respondent). (Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 35, ll. 13-21; R. ____). The delivery of the receipt does not excuse the Appellant for its failure to deliver a copy of its policy to Respondent or to exempt the Appellant from the operation of South Carolina Code Section 38-71-30.

Further, the document which was identified and introduced as Exhibit 12 did not exist at the time Respondent purchased the original policy in 1999. It was not created and/or delivered to the Respondent until 2002, at the time the monthly benefit was increased. Therefore Exhibit 12 does not relieve or excuse the Appellant from its failure to comply with South Carolina Code Section 38-71-30.

III. THE CAUSE OF RESPONDENT'S ACCIDENT IS IRRELEVANT TO THE ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT.

The Appellant argues that this Court should hold that Respondent was intoxicated at the time of the accident and that this intoxication was a contributing cause of his wreck, "based on the fully developed record presented to the trial court by the parties" and asks this Court to enter judgment in its favor. (Initial Brief of Respondent, p. 22).

As set forth above, the Appellant's failure to deliver a copy of the disability policy to Respondent precludes them from relying on any intoxication exclusion contained in its policy as a matter of law. Therefore, the issue of whether or not the Respondent was "intoxicated" at the time of the accident, and whether this alleged intoxication caused or contributed to the accident and his subsequent injuries is irrelevant to the issues before the Court as the Trial Court correctly ruled in his Order. (Order of Judge Griffith; R. ____).

Even if this Court were to conclude that the Appellant has a right to rely on the intoxication exclusion, the evidence does not establish that the Respondent was impaired at the time of the accident and that any intoxication or impairment was the proximate cause of the accident which forms the basis of the Respondent's disability. Judge Griffith made no finding as to whether or not Respondent was impaired at the time the accident occurred and whether or not any alleged impairment contributed to the motorcycle accident. (Order of Judge Griffith; R. ____). He correctly ruled that the other issues in the case were dispositive and made any decision on the causation of the accident unnecessary and moot. (Order of Judge Griffith; R. ____). The evidence presented before Judge Griffith as to whether or not the Respondent was impaired or intoxicated at the time of the accident and whether this caused or contributed to the accident which caused his injuries was in dispute. In addition to the evidence cited by Appellant in its Brief, the Respondent presented ample evidence that he was not impaired at the time of the accident and that the accident was not caused by any alleged impairment on his part, but was caused by the negligence of the other driver involved in the accident. (Transcript, Vol. 2, p. 35, l. 10 - p. 36, l. 2; p. 38, l. 22 - p. 39, l. 13; p. 130, ll. 12-14; p. 194, ll. 17-23; R.

____) (Transcript Vol. 3, p. 27, ll. 9-18; p. 27, ll. 19-20; p. 29, ll. 2-25; p. 42, ll. 7-9; p. 88, l. 19 - p. 89, l. 3; p. 121, l. 21 - p. 123, l. 5; p. 127, ll. 3-19; pp. 128-129; R. ____). There is certainly sufficient conflicting testimony in the record as to the question of any alleged intoxication on the part of Respondent and whether or not this caused or contributed to the accident to warrant a remand back to the trial court in the event that this court determines that the Appellant can rely on the alleged intoxication exclusion to defeat coverage in this case.

IV. PUBLIC POLICY DOES NOT REQUIRE REVERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER AND IT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The Appellant argues that this Court should reverse the Order of the Trial Court because, "allowing Russell (Respondent) to recover disability insurance benefits for injuries received while driving drunk violates public policy." This argument lacks merit and should be ignored by this Court.

As set forth above, the Appellant's failure to deliver a copy of the disability policy to Respondent precludes them from relying on the intoxication exclusion as a matter of law. Therefore, the issue of whether or not the Respondent was "intoxicated" at the time of the accident, and whether this alleged intoxication caused or contributed to the accident and his subsequent injuries, is irrelevant to the issues before the Court.

Further, there has been no finding by any Court that the Respondent was "driving drunk" at the time he was involved in the motorcycle accident resulting in his injuries and disability. The Trial Court expressly made no ruling on this issue at trial. Judge Griffith's Order expressly provides that, "[t]he Court has not reached the issue of whether the Plaintiff's (Respondent's) level of impairment due to the consumption of alcohol and if such impairment contributed to the collision with Ms. Collins' vehicle." (Order of the